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Anonymous (after a drawing by Adriaen van de Venne), Children play 
on the Abbey Square, 1619 (etching). Zeeuws Archief, Zeeland Society, 

Zelandia Illustrata, part II, nr 494.

The dawn of  a r ich histor y

The power of  the abbot

From church to state

New use

Already in the 9th century a circular rampart 
is located on this location. Around 1123, the 
West Flemish abbey of Voormezele (near Ypres) 
founds a monastery here, dedicated to the 
Blessed Virgin. Four years later, the building is 
taken over by the Norbertine order. The abbey 
has strong ties with the Saint Michael’s Abbey in 
Antwerp. Norbertines have, in addition to their 
private devotions, a strong social commitment.

The Norbertines build their abbey around a 
central quadrangle. At its heart is a cloistered 
garden, where the canons read and recite their 
daily prayers. They live according to the Rule of 
Saint Augustine and the motto ad omne opus 
bonum paratus (prepared for every good work) 
and build a chapel dedicated to the Virgin. The 
cloister is surrounded by the aisles that lead to 
the most important parts of the abbey complex.

The Norbertines become the biggest 
landowners in the region. They have founded 
dozens of parish churches in the area north 
of the Western Scheldt. As head of the abbey, 
the abbot appoints the pastors of each parish. 
He also serves as counsellor to the counts of 
Holland and Zeeland, who stay in special quar-
ters in the abbey when visiting Middelburg. 
The abbot is also a member of the water board 
of Walcheren and dike warden. From the 15th 
century, he is even chairman of the States of 
Zeeland: the council of noblemen and city 
elders that govern Zeeland. At the height of his 
intellectual, spiritual and political power in 1561, 
abbot Nicolaas de Castro (born Nicolaas van 
der Borcht) is appointed bishop of the new bish-
opric of Zeeland. De Castro is not only the most 
powerful abbot but is also the last man to hold 
this post. In 1574, following the Reformation, 
the abbey becomes the seat of the provincial 
government.*
* In 1998 a plaque is installed in the Wandelkerk bearing the names of 
all 33 abbots of the Abbey of the Blessed Virgin.

From mid-16th century Zeeland resorts 
under the Spanish crown. Under the leader-
ship of Prince William of Orange (1533-1584), 
the mostly Protestant Dutch start a rebel-
lion against Catholic Spain. After a siege of 
almost two years, the Spaniards gave up the 
city of Middelburg in February 1574. William of 
Orange takes possession of the abbey complex 
as the Eerste Edele (First Noble) of the States 
of Zeeland, the highest governing body in the 
province. All monks have to leave the city and 
leave all their possessions behind. The abbey is 
now the seat of secular power. Any Catholic ef-
figies that have not been destroyed during the 
Iconoclastic Fury of 1566, are now removed. The 
churches in the abbey remain in use, but now for 
Protestant worship.

The remaining buildings are put to new use: 
as accommodation for officials, the council 
chamber of the States of Zeeland, the seat of 
Zeeland’s admiralty, the Mint of Zeeland, and a 
foundry for casting bells and cannon. Because 
the representatives of the Gecommitteerde 
Raden (Council of Deputies of Zeeland) meet 
daily, each of them is given a house for their 
family in the abbey complex. Alongside all the 
officials and dignitaries, the complex is also 
home to messengers and guards.

Abdij (plein)
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For almost 900 years this courtyard has been 
bringing people together: clergy, officials and 
dignitaries, travellers, international guests and 
students, residents and artists.
Today the abbey complex houses the provincial 
government, the Roosevelt Study Center and – 
since 1972 – the Zeeuws Museum. As a proud 
resident, we bid you a warm welcome.
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In the Mint of Zeeland, established in the clois-
ter, all the province’s coins are minted for 200 
years. Zeeland’s sovereignty is underscored by 
the minting of gold ducats. The cloister sub-
stantially rebuilt for this purpose: a mezzanine 
is installed and the ground floor is divided up. A 
workshop with two smelting furnaces is installed 
in an extension to the cloister.

During the economic boom of the 17th centu-
ry, Zeeland is almost as powerful and prosper-
ous as Amsterdam. This is reflected in all the 
rooms in the abbey, which are luxuriously deco-
rated and provided with all necessary comforts. 
Everything exudes the power and influence of 
Zeeland’s government.

Zeeland Mint

Louise de Coligny

Following the murder of her husband, Prince 
William of Orange, on 10 July 1584, Louise 
de Coligny (1555-1620) lives in the Abbey of 
Middelburg for several years. Due to financial 
problems around the settlement of his estate, 
she is forced to live outside Holland. Her quar-
ters are located between the infirmary and the 
Balanspoort, which is now the museum wing. 
De Coligny has a suite of rooms comprising a 
reception room, a bedchamber and a room for 
her maid. There are also rooms for her children, 
governess, steward, courtiers, dressmaker and 
seamstress.

Napoleon Bonaparte visits Middelburg in May 
1810 and is entertained in style. The rooms 
for the emperor and his wife are provided 
with every conceivable comfort. Modern fur-
niture has been purchased: a mahogany bed 
crowned by a gilded eagle with matching tables 
and commode, two roll-top desks and various 
tables, chairs and mirrors. A fashionable, black 
porcelain dinner service is also acquired for 
their arrival.

Fifteen years earlier the establishment of the 
Batavian Republic (1795-1801) ushers in a 
modest chapter. Zeeland loses its independ-
ent status and becomes part of the nation state. 
From now on important decisions are being 
made in The Hague. Zeeland’s mint strikes its 
last coins in 1798. The complex becomes too 
large for the devalued provincial government. 
By 1825, the cloister and the adjoining chapter 
house are being used as a coach house. To ease 
the turning of carriages, three sides of the re-
maining original cloister are demolished.

The French period

Cit izens’  ini t iat ives

Within the abbey complex there is now space 
for new initiatives of the regents and citizens. 
The Teeken Academie (Drawing Academy) and 
Industrieschool (Industry School) take up res-
idence here and a concert hall is installed. A 
gymnastics hall replaces the cannon foundry, 
and the officials’ accommodation is transformed 
into a hotel. However, the buildings receive 
hardly any maintenance and therefore become 
dilapidated. Therefore the abbey complex un-
dergoes a major restoration between 1886 and 
1917. Some parts are restored to a state that is 
seen as their original state.

After the capitulation of the Netherlands on 15 
May 1940, the fighting in Zeeland continues be-
cause of French troops that are stationed in 
here. On 17 May, Middelburg is thrust into the 
front line. The city is under attack by German 
troops, but French artillery shells also strike 
the city centre. The fire caused by the shell-
ing, ravages the city centre. Also much of the 
abbey complex is destroyed. The forty bronze 
bells in the carillon at the top of the Lange Jan 
tower melt in the scorching heat. Underneath 
the debris of the cloister lie, completely intact, 
the Zeeland tapestries. Rolled up in zinc tubes 
and placed beneath a specially laid concrete 
floor these have been timely brought to safety in 
1939.

Middelburg rebuilds the heart of its city as 
quickly as is possible: the commissions for re-
construction are issued before the end of 1940. 
The traditionalistic style fits the ideas of the 
German occupying force. Reichskommissar 
Arthur Seys-Inquart personally is involved in the 
reconstruction. The large-scale restoration of 
the abbey complex takes almost twenty years to 
complete.

May 1940

Although destroyed several times by fire, 
the Lange Jan tower continues to dominate 
Walcheren’s landscape to this day. A unique 
feature is the gilded imperial crown, a reference 
to the Holy Roman Emperor, Maximilian I. In 
1482, following the early death of his wife, Mary, 
Duchess of Burgundy, he becomes the de facto 
ruler of the Low Countries. The Westertoren 
in Amsterdam is also decorated with a similar 
imperial crown.

As Middelburg grows, especially after being 
granted city status in 1217, it needs more 
churches. A new abbey church is built on the 
west side of the abbey complex, where the 
canons and the local faithful come together to 
worship. In the course of the 14th/15th centuries 
this church is rebuilt to create two churches: 
the Koorkerk (for the clergy) and the Nieuwe 
Kerk (for the parishioners). This new church is 
dedicated to Saint Nicholas, the patron saint of 
merchants and children.

The central choir between the Koorkerk and 
the Nieuwe Kerk is known as the Wandelkerk. 
Among its features are the shared tomb of admi-
rals Jan and Cornelis Evertsen and a memorial 
plaque to commemorate the death of Abdul 
Hamid, envoy from Aceh to Prince Maurice 
(1567-1625), of 1602.

The abbey complex is built around this cloiste-
red garden and cloister from 1150. Dormitories, 
a large refectory, a library and chapter house are 
added. Originally intended as a place for prayer, 
the cloister is used by the Mint of Zeeland from 
1574 onwards. For this reason, the cloister is 
also known as the Muntplein (Mint Square). 
Nowadays the cloister garden is situated here. 
Around the cloister the Roosevelt Study Center 
and offices of the Province of Zeeland are pre-
sently situated in this part of the abbey.

This square sandstone entrance tower to the 
cloister dates from the 15th century. The abbot’s 
private chapel is located on the first floor. From 
1679 this room serves as accommodation 
for the Gecommitteerde Raden (Council of 
Deputies of Zeeland). Beneath the cross vault in 
the entrance is a carved capstone with Christ 
and the four Evangelists.

As is common for aristocratic residences at the 
end of the 15th century, the abbot’s residence 
is situated above a gallery, nowadays known 
as the Lion’s Cage. His residence consists of 
a dining room, reception room and private 
chamber. In 1679 the baroque gate in the right-
hand corner is added as the stately entrance to 
the meeting rooms and offices of the govern-
ment of Zeeland.

The eastern entrance to the abbey. This site 
marks the bank of the early medieval moat of 
the circular rampart. The current version of the 
Gistpoort dates from the 16th century and is 
clad with bluestone. The sculpture above the 
entrance depicts William II, Count of Holland 
and Zeeland, and has been installed in 1955. 
This 13th-century King of the Holy Roman 
Empire has been buried in the abbey.

The Counts of Holland and Zeeland and later the 
Princes of Orange stay here during their visits 
to Middelburg. In 1809, Louis I, King of Holland, 
stays here for several days, and in May 1810, his 
brother, Napoleon Bonaparte, is accommoda-
ted here. From 1814, the quarters become the 
official residence of the Governor and later the 
King’s/Queen’s Commissioner. The royal quar-
ters are also located here and have been used 
until the 1980s. Since 1990 the offices of the 
Zeeuws Museum are located on the upper floor. 
On the lower floor the official reception rooms of 
the Province of Zeeland are situated.

In 1592, at the initiative of the by then deceased 
Prince William of Orange, an extra gate is 
created in the abbey walls. This gate facilitates 
access from the Korte Burg to the Abdijplein and 
is meant especially for citizens. Inscribed above 
the gate are the letters S.P.Q.M., an abbrevia-
tion of the Latin phrase Senatus Populus Que 
Medioburgensis (the Senate and People of 
Middelburg). The tail on the letter Q has gradu-
ally worn away so that the city’s residents have 
come to refer to it as the SPOM Gate.

In the late 1980s, the architect Cees Dam desig-
nes the stone ‘walk lines’ and pavements on the 
square. The lime and plane trees are distributed 
across the square and around the water pump 
(designed by C. Kayser in 1781). Dam’s design 
calls to mind the drawing by Adriaen van de 
Venne from 1619: an open courtyard where 
people congregate.

This building has been constructed as quarters 
for the guests of the last abbot, Nicolaas de 
Castro around 1570. From 1584 to 1591, Louise 
de Coligny and her two children live in this part 
of the abbey. Later it is used as, among others, 
the audit office, library and state archive. Since 
1972 the Zeeuws Museum is housed here.

This gate, constructed in the mid-13th century, 
is the main entrance to the abbey. In earlier 
times the large gate is opened only on special 
occasions. The loft of the Balanspoort has been 
used for storing grain. The gate is made from 
stone from Tournai and is an example of Scheldt 
Gothic.

A basalt boulder lies on the Abdijplein. In this 
rock, Marinus Boezem has captured culture 
and nature. The smooth upper surface reflects 
the sky – never the same, but always there. 
Engraved on its surface is the plan of Reims 
Cathedral, for Boezem the archetype of Gothic 
ecclesiastical architecture. Basalt is congealed 
volcanic lava: a protected material in Zeeland 
because it is used for constructing dikes. 
Boezem has fused many themes in this work: 
space, time, man’s desire to build, life in and on 
the earth, and the transience of the infinite sky 
above.

This building has been erected in 1599 as the 
house for the delegate from Tholen of the States 
of Zeeland and his family. Around 1860 it is used 
as an auction house by Middelburg’s notaries. 
Restored shortly before the Second World War, 
it is miraculously spared with all but the slightest 
damage in May 1940.

This gate probably dates from the early 16th 
century and provides access to the Koorkerkhof. 
At that time this part of the abbey is probably 
less accessible than the Nederhof (Abdijplein).

A stone with Zeeland’s coat of arms is installed 
above the Koorkerkhofpoort in the 17th century. 
The image of the lion in the waves stems from 
the 16th century and symbolises Zeeland’s 
resistance against Spain from 1568 to 1648. 
Around 1600 the Latin motto Luctor et Emergo (I 
struggle and emerge) has been added.

In earlier times a bakery, a brewery, warehouses 
and the residence of the cellarer are housed 
here. From 1836 to 1940 this is the site of the 
famous hotel De Abdij. The current county hall 
has been designed by the Middelburg-based 
architect Johannes Berghoef and dates from 
1960.

There are various primordial stones to be found 
around the abbey complex. The buildings are 
partially constructed from lime sandstone from 
Belgium and the environs of Paris, which was 
formed in the Eocene epoch, 45 million years 
ago. Some of the tiles, paving stones, benches 
and window mullions in the abbey also contain 
beautiful fossils. Try to find them during a stroll 
along the buildings.

Every two years the Abbey of Middelburg is at 
the centre of international attention. Dignitaries 
are prominently present during the presentation 
of the Roosevelt Four Freedoms Awards. These 
are awarded one year in New York and the other 
year in Middelburg. The awards are granted to 
men, women and organizations who give an 
inspiring interpretation to the Four Freedoms of 
Franklin D. Roosevelt: freedom of speech and 
expression, freedom of worship, freedom from 
want and freedom from fear.
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